1986

Michael F. Grinnell v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, Department of Employment Security, and May Trucking Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE BOARD OF REVIEW'S DECISION IS SUPPORTED BY
SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

2. WHETHER THE BOARD OF REVIEW'S DECISION IS WITHIN THE
LIMITS OF REASONABLENESS AND RATIONALITY.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was employed as a truck driver for May Trucking Company (May) in Layton, Utah, from 20 September, 1984 to 19 December, 1985. (R. at 37). Appellant's job function was to perform cross-country driving for May. On or about 20 December, 1985, after Appellant returned from an assignment, May discovered that on that trip the road speed governor on Appellant's truck had been tampered with. (R. at 39). The governor is normally set at approximately sixty-two miles per hour (62 mph). (R. at 39). The Rockwell trip master computer on board the truck showed that the Appellant had averaged 4 or 5 miles per hour over the governor's limit on the last trip. (R. at 41). May had an incentive bonus program which provided that if a driver drove under 60, that driver got a three cent per mile additional bonus, and Appellant had received that bonus quite often. (R. at 42). The daily trip reports also showed that from 21 November, 1985 to 22 November, 1985, Appellant had driven approximately 21 1/2 hours out of 24 hours. (R. at 44).

Both the tampering with the road governor and the excessive driving time were violations of May's company policy by Appellant. Although these violations could result in termination, Appellant was merely suspended from work because of his exemplary driving record. (R. at 9, 24, 48, 69). As a condition to returning to work Appellant was required to submit to a urinalysis test. (R. at 69). May felt that petitioner could not have driven for the sustained

period without some type of chemical assistance. (R. at 46). The urinalysis showed a trace of marijuana in Appellant's system. (R. at 9, 46). Appellant was terminated at that point by May.

Appellant filed for unemployment benefits and was denied on 24 January, 1986. Appellant requested and had a hearing before the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) on 19 February, 1986. (R. at 9). In a written opinion, the ALJ found that Appellant was not discharged for disqualifying reasons and allowed unemployment benefits. (R. at 11). The ALJ's decision was based partly on the fact that Appellant's violations of the speed and hour policies would not alone have resulted in termination. (R. at 10). Although the ALJ found the employer was justified in its drug policy, the ALJ found insufficient evidence to support May's claim that Appellant understood that any use of drugs would result in termination (R. at 10). Appellant testified that he understood he could only be terminated if drug use influenced his driving performance or if he used drugs in or around a company vehicle. (R. at 10, 17). Petitioner also testified that he had not consumed drugs for quite some time. (R. at 25), that he had not used drugs while driving (R. at 16, 26), and that he was not a regular drug user. (R. at 17, 26). Consequently, the ALJ allowed benefits.

On appeal by May to the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission (Board) the ALJ's decision was reversed. (R. at 6). The Board acknowledged insufficient

evidence as to a discharge based on drug usage. (R. at 6). The Board, however, felt that the speed and hour violations occurring during Appellant's last trip for May were serious enough, coupled with the drug usage, to warrant the discharge of petitioner. (R. at 7). The decision of the Board was split with commissioners Hadley and Hannan reversing the ALJ, and commissioner Belka dissenting. Commissioner Belka agreed that the drug usage evidence was insufficient. He felt, however, that the violations of speed were not serious since Appellant had averaged 66 mph, but the employer had authorized speeds of 62 mph which also violated the law. (R. at 8).

After the Board's decision, Appellant filed a notice of appeal. The matter is now before this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The standard of review for decisions of the Board of Review is twofold. The Board's findings of fact will not be disturbed if supported by substantial evidence. In this appeal the record shows that the ALJ's findings, not the Board's findings, are supported by substantial evidence and should be followed by this Court. Those findings (the ALJ's) indicate that Appellant was discharged for non-disqualifying reasons and, thus, that Appellant is entitled to unemployment benefits.

The conclusions of law made by the Board must be reasonable and rational. In this appeal, again, it is the

ALJ's conclusions that are reasonable and rational, not the Board's conclusions. The evidence shows that Appellant was not discharged for just cause. As to marijuana usage, both the ALJ and the Board agree that Appellant was without the knowledge requirement. As to the tampering and excessive driving time, the evidence supports the conclusion that Appellant was without sufficient culpability. Thus, the conclusion that Appellant was discharged for just cause is erroneous and the ALJ's conclusion that Appellant was discharged for non-disqualifying reasons should be reinstated.

ARGUMENT

THERE ARE TWO STANDARDS OF REVIEW IN CASES OF THIS TYPE WHICH ARE BASED ON THE RATIONALITY OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW'S DECISION.

A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR FACTUAL FINDINGS OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW IS BASED ON STATUTE.

This Court is bound by the findings of fact of the Commission and Board of Review if supported by evidence, pursuant to §35-4-10(1) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended). Trotta v. Department of Employment Security, 664 P.2d 1195 (Utah 1983). The Board of Review (Board) did not make written findings of fact; however, in its written decision there is no indication that it was not following the findings of fact adopted by the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ). Consequently, this Court could conclude that the Board incorporated the ALJ's findings of fact into its decision. The Board simply disagreed with the ALJ's conclusions.

The Board did, however, dispute one finding of the ALJ. The ALJ found that Appellant was discharged because traces of marijuana were found in his system. The Board found that Appellant was discharged on the basis of four cumulative events:

1. Alteration of the 62 MPH road speed governor;
and
2. Evidence that the on-board computer showed the truck had averaged 66 MPH; and
3. Evidence that the truck had been operated for 22 hours during a 24 hour period; and
4. Applicant was tested and found to have traces of marijuana in his system.

The difference is that the Board found Appellant was discharged for reasons one through four, while the ALJ found that Appellant was discharged only for reason four. The ALJ found that for reasons one through three, Appellant was merely suspended.

This distinction is critical. If the finding of the ALJ is followed, then Appellant was not discharged for disqualifying reasons and is entitled to unemployment benefits. Not only was this the decision of the ALJ, but it also appears that the Board agreed with that consequence. The Board, in its decision, acknowledged that there was very likely insufficient evidence to show when Appellant had used marijuana and what effects it had on Appellant if any. The only reason the Board reversed the ALJ, as stated previously,

was due to the cumulative facts rather than the marijuana fact alone. A close examination of the proceedings before the ALJ, and certain other documents in the record, shows the Board's finding is not based on substantial evidence. Trotta v. Department of Employment Security, 664 P.2d 1195, 1198 (Utah 1983) (and cases there cited).

A letter dated 16 January, 1986 from Mr. Greg Weigel, Personnel Manager of May Trucking, was received by Appellant. The letter first states that Appellant was discharged for violating the safety regulations on logging and driving time. But apparently this is not why Appellant was actually terminated, because the letter goes on to say that Appellant was only suspended due to his previous good driving record. The letter makes it clear that Appellant was terminated only after the urinalysis tested positive for marijuana. Thus, the letter is evidence that goes against the Board's decision.

In the hearing before the ALJ, a representative of the employer was asked what brought on the termination. The representative responded that it was a combination of things and then said, "Had it not been for the positive results on the drug test, Mr. Grinnell probably would have had a two-week suspension and then it would have been over with." After determining that the marijuana problem alone was a ground for termination, the representative also stated that tampering and excessive hours were also grounds for termination. But the point was reiterated that the violation

that brought on the termination was the marijuana test. The testimony heard by the ALJ showed that Appellant was terminated for marijuana usage. Based on this and other testimony, the ALJ found no knowledge on Appellant's part and, thus, that he was not discharged for disqualifying reasons. This Court has held that because of the technical experience of the ALJ, and the ALJ's ability to more closely evaluate the testimony proffered, great deference should be afforded to the ALJ's decision. Kehl v. Board of Review, 700 P.2d 1129, 1133 (Utah 1985). The testimony at the hearing, then also goes against the Board's decision and supports the ALJ's decision.

In conclusion, the ALJ's decision is supported by substantial evidence. The letter and the testimony both support the ALJ's finding that Appellant was not discharged for the tampering or traveling violations, but only for the urinalysis results. The Board's decision that Appellant was discharged for the tampering or traveling violations is not supported by substantial evidence. Therefore, this Court should follow the findings of the ALJ and not the Board, in making its decision.

B. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW OF THE LEGAL STANDARDS APPLIED BY THE BOARD OF REVIEW ARE BROADER THAN THE REVIEW OF FACTUAL FINDINGS.

This Court has stated that it will not defer to the legal standard applied by the Board of Review except under legislative intent expressed in statutory language. Trotta v. Department of Employment Security, 664 P.2d 1195, 1198

(Utah 1983). The court there stated that the review of the legal standards applied by the Board of Review is considerably broader than its review of the factual findings of the Board. Id. Yet, this Court has also stated that the Board's decision shall be affirmed unless as a matter of law only the opposite conclusion could be drawn from the facts. Board of Education of Sevier County School District v. Board of Review, 701 P.2d 1064 (Utah 1985). It appears, then, that the rule of review currently adopted by the court is that stated in Wright's Furniture Mill, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 707 P.2d 113 (1985). There the court deferred to the ALJ's application of law to fact so long as the decision is "reasonable and rational." In the instant case, based on his technical expertise or more extensive experience in the administrative agency, the ALJ concluded that Appellant had not been discharged for disqualifying reasons. This conclusion is well documented in the ALJ's decision. The evidence was clear that Appellant did not meet the knowledge standard required for a finding of discharge for just cause. The legal conclusion is clear that absent knowledge, culpability and control, the claimant is not disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits. Utah Department of Employment Security Rule A71-07-1:5(II)-1.

1. The ALJ'S Decison That Appellant Was Without The Requisite Knowledge Was Reasonable and Rational.

The ALJ, after finding that Appellant was discharged because of the urinalysis test results, turned to

the question of whether Appellant was discharged for just cause. A determination of just cause is based on the three factors of knowledge, culpability and control. Rule A71-07-1:5(II)-1. All three factors must be present to establish just cause. The ALJ found that in this case the factor of knowledge was missing and therefore Appellant was not discharged for just cause.

The employer testified that it was company policy to discharge for any use of drugs whether on or off the road, and that Appellant knew this. Appellant, however, testified that he did not know any use was grounds for discharge, although he knew that use while driving or while around the truck was grounds for discharge. He also testified that he had not used marijuana for quite some time, and that even then he did not use it regularly. The ALJ found that there was insufficient evidence to support the employer's position and thus found that Appellant had not been shown to have the required knowledge for a just cause discharge. This legal conclusion is fully substantiated by the evidence and should not be disturbed by this Court.

2. The Board's Decision That Appellant Was Disqualified From Receiving Unemployment Benefits is Not Reasonable Nor Rational.

The Board agreed that the evidence on marijuana usage was insufficient to establish knowledge and so just cause, but found disqualifying behavior in the tampering and traveling time. As has been discussed, this finding of the Board is not supported by substantial evidence, and is also

reversible as a misapplication of the law.

The Board concluded that because Appellant could have been terminated for the tampering and traveling time violations he was terminated for just cause. This conclusion is in error. First, the two violations do not result in mandatory discharge as evidenced by the employer's testimony that Appellant was only suspended for those violations. The Board cannot decide for the employer that discharge was warranted when the employer has already made the decision not to discharge Appellant. Second, although not couched in this specific language, Appellant's conduct fails to meet the culpability requirement of a discharge for just cause.

The issue of culpability starts with a consideration of the seriousness of the conduct as it affects continuance of the employment relationship. The Department of Employment Security's rules state in part:

(1) Longevity and prior work record are important in determining if the act or omission is an isolated incident or a good faith error in judgment. An employee who has historically complied with work rules does not demonstrate by a single violation, even though harmful, that such violations will be repeated and therefore require discharge to avoid future harm to the employer...

Rule A71-07-1:5(II)-1.B.1.a.(1).

This is precisely the situation involved in the instant case. By the employer's own admission, Appellant had an exemplary work record. Thus, Appellant was put on suspension and not discharged. The Board found that the tampering and traveling time violations were violations occurring on the last trip

Appellant made for the employer, i.e. a single violation. Thus, the element of fault is lacking. Even though Appellant's conduct might be grounds for discharge, without fault it is not sufficient for disqualification of unemployment benefits. Logan Regional Hospital v. Board of Review, ____P.2d____, 39 Utah Adv. Rep. 34, 36 (August 5, 1986).