1986

Michael Grinnell v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, Department of Employment Security, and May Trucking Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

This Court has consistently held that the Commission's findings of fact are conclusive, binding on the Court, and to be sustained if supported by competent and substantial evidence in the record. With respect to mixed questions of law and fact the Court in reviewing agency decisions should afford considerable deference to the technical expertise and experience of the agency so long as these decisions fall within the limits of

reasonableness and rationality. As regards questions of law the Court's review is plenary with no deference accorded to the administrative determination.

POINT II

Claimant-Petitioner in his brief contends that "because of the technical experience of the ALJ and the ALJ's ability to more closely evaluate the testimony proffered, great deference should be afforded to the ALJ's decision." This does not mean that the Court should prefer the decision of the ALJ over the decision of the Board of Review. The decision of the Board of Review takes the place of the decision of the ALJ and becomes the decision of the Commission. The Supreme Court affords great deference to the technical expertise or more extensive experience of the agency, the decision of which in case of an appeal under the Employment Security Act, is rendered by the Board of Review.

POINT III

CLAIMANT ALTERED THE ROAD SPEED GOVERNOR

The Board of Review found that the claimant intentionally altered the truck's road speed governor in order to drive in excess of the 62 mile per hour maximum speed the governor permitted. Testimony on this point is in dispute but it is

submitted that the Board's decision is amply supported by substantial and competent evidence. The claimant admitted that he had worked on the governor. Claimant contended he had done so to repair an air leak which he was concerned would affect the brakes on the truck. The employer had a well-known policy that requires a driver anytime there is a mechanical failure or breakdown on the road to notify the employer's head of maintenance in the shop in Payette, Idaho to be instructed as to which shop the truck should be taken to have the truck repaired. Drivers are clearly informed not to attempt to make repairs themselves on the truck. The claimant made no call to the employer regarding the broken air line or the broken governor and has offered no explanation regarding his failure to do so.

DOT requirements provide for a driver to complete a "vehicle inspection report" every day. There is no indication in such reports prepared by the claimant of an air leak in connection with the road speed governor.

While the road speed governor was out of commission the claimant did in fact for extended periods of time exceed the maximum speed set by the governor. If the claimant had not exceeded the 62 mile per hour governor speed after the governor was broken, it would be probative that the claimant did not intentionally alter the governor, whereas the driving at an average speed of 66 miles per hour for extended periods of time

is probative that the claimant did intentionally alter the road speed governor.

DRIVING AT SPEEDS IN EXCESS OF THE 62 MILE PER HOUR MAXIMUM SET BY THE EMPLOYER.

The finding that the claimant, while the road speed governor was broken, drove at an average speed of 66 miles per hour for extended periods of time is not in dispute. It is conclusive and binding on the Court.

CLAIMANT OPERATED HIS VEHICLE FOR NEARLY 22 HOURS OUT OF A 24 HOUR PERIOD IN VIOLATION OF U. S. DOT REGULATIONS AND COMPANY POLICY.

The claimant drove a total of 21 hours and 28 minutes in a 24 hour period. This action was grossly in violation of U. S. Department of Transportation regulations and the employer's policy. The claimant at the hearing did not specifically deny said conduct.

A URINALYSIS TEST DISCLOSED THAT CLAIMANT DURING THE TIME OF HIS EMPLOYMENT USED A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE (MARIJUANA).

When the employer discovered the incident of driving some 21 1/2 hours within a 24 hours period, he requested that the claimant submit to a urinalysis for a drug screen. The test showed the presence of traces of marijuana in the claimant's

body. The claimant admitted having used marijuana at some time in the past. The Board of Review concluded that the claimant had used a controlled substance (marijuana) some time prior to the urinalysis test administered on December 24, 1985.

THE DISCHARGE WAS BASED UPON THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ALL OF THE AFOREMENTIONED FACTORS AND NOT JUST ON THE USE OF MARIJUANA.

The Board of Review concluded from the evidence that the claimant was discharged for a cumulation of factors and in the words of the employer's witness "it was a cumulative situation, the marijuana was probably the straw that broke the camel's back."

It is submitted that all the above-mentioned findings of fact in POINT III are supported by substantial competent evidence and are therefore conclusive and binding on the Court. Further, that the conclusion of law of the Board of Review that the claimant was disqualified from receiving benefits under §5(b)(1) of the Act falls within the limits of reasonableness and rationality and should therefore be affirmed.

POINT IV

ANALYSIS OF UTAH SUPREME COURT DECISIONS

In the recent decision of Lane v. Board of Review filed October 16, 1986 the Court reversed the Board of Review and

allowed benefits under §5(b)(1). The facts in the instant case are clearly distinguishable from the Lane case. In the Lane case the Court held that Lane's conduct in selling beer to a minor after having failed to check the age of the individual in question fell into the category of an isolated error in judgment or discretion and did not satisfy the culpability factor. The offenses of the claimant in the instant case do satisfy the culpability factor and do not fall into the category of an isolated error in judgment or discretion.

In the case of Logan Regional Hospital v. Board of Review the Court affirmed the Board of Review decision holding that where the element of fault is lacking a disqualification from benefits is not warranted. The Court agreed with the conclusion of the Board of Review that circumstances which led to the claimant's discharge were the result of inadvertent conditions beyond the control of the claimant. It is submitted that in the instant case the control factor is clearly satisfied.

In the case of Terminal Service Company v. Board of Review the Court affirmed the decision of the Board of Review which allowed benefits. The decision was based mainly upon the knowledge factor. The Court found that the claimant was not clearly warned that future attendance deficiencies would result in termination. The facts of the instant case are clearly

distinguishable. The claimant does not contend that he understood it was okay to alter the road speed governor nor does he contend he understood it was okay to drive at the excessive speed indicated nor that he was unaware of the company policy and DOT regulations prohibiting his action in driving some 21 1/2 hours out of a 24 hour period.

In the case of Spartan AMC/Jeep v. Board of Review, the Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the Board of Review allowing benefits under §5(b)(1). This case mainly involved a dispute as to the facts. The Board believed the claimant's explanation and the Supreme Court affirmed, holding that there was substantial competent evidence to support the findings of fact of the Board. In the instant case the facts are generally not disputed except as regards whether or not the claimant intentionally altered the road speed governor. With respect to this finding of fact, it is submitted there is substantial competent evidence supporting the finding of the Board of Review.

In the case of Wright's Furniture Mill, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, the Court affirmed the decision of the Board of Review allowing benefits under §5(b)(1). The culpability factor was involved in this case. In Wright's a truck driver had incurred two speeding violations in Texas some 18 months prior to his discharge. The instant case is clearly distinguishable

involving infractions incurred immediately prior to the discharge which clearly satisfied the culpability requirement.

In the case of Kehl v. Board of Review the Court considered the "just cause" provisions of the Statute for the first time and affirmed the decision of the Board of Review denying benefits under the just cause provision of §5(b)(1). In Kehl the Court analyzed the facts in accordance with the culpability, knowledge and control tests set forth in Department Proposed Regulations. The Court concluded that all three tests had been satisfied and that the denial of benefits on the basis the claimant was discharged for "just cause" was justified. It is submitted the claimant in the instant case was also properly denied benefits on the basis of a review of the facts under the culpability, knowledge and control factors.

CULPABILITY

The four offenses involved were each serious offenses. The discharge was consistent with reasonable employment practices. The conduct of the claimant in the instant case cannot be characterized as an isolated instance of poor judgment or a single violation of relatively insignificant import.

KNOWLEDGE

There is no indication in the record in this case that the employer's expectations were unclear, ambiguous or inconsistent except possibly with respect to the use of marijuana off of the job. As respects the use of marijuana the claimant concedes that he was aware that use of marijuana while performing his duties as a truck driver was contrary to the employer's policy and contrary to U. S. Department of Transportation rules and regulations. By reason of the very nature of the job involving driving on the road away from the terminal for weeks at a time the employer could not monitor the claimant's physical condition. The claimant reasonably should have known that any discovery of a controlled substance in his system under the circumstances of his particular job would have a serious affect upon his job and a very high degree of likelihood of a discharge.

CONTROL

The employer's policy required a driver to immediately contact the shop of the employer in Payette, Idaho to report any mechanical failure. Drivers were prohibited from doing their own repairs while out on the road. It certainly was within the claimant's control to report the mechanical failure

involving the road speed governor to the employer rather than attempting repairs on it himself. As respects exceeding the speed limit and driving some 21 1/2 hours in a 24 hour period it certainly was within the control of the claimant to drive within the set speed limits and not exceed allowed driving time, and to notify the employer if there was a problem delivery time and request the employer to have it rescheduled. As respects the use of marijuana or other controlled substances it must be assumed it was within the control of the claimant to obey the law and refrain from using such substances.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IN REVIEWING A DETERMINATION OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION UNDER THE UTAH EMPLOYMENT SECURITY ACT, THE COURT WILL AFFIRM THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS OF FACT IF SUCH ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE AND WILL IMPLEMENT AN INTERMEDIATE STANDARD OF REVIEW WITH REGARD TO MIXED QUESTIONS OF LAW AND FACT.

The standard of review in unemployment insurance cases is well established. §35-4-10(i), Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides in pertinent part:

In any judicial proceeding under this section, the findings of the Commission and the Board of Review as to the facts if supported by evidence, shall be conclusive and the jurisdiction of the Court shall be confined to questions of law.

This Court has consistently held that the Commission's findings of fact are conclusive, binding on this Court, and to be sustained if supported by competent and substantial evidence in the record. Martinez v. Board of Review, 25 U.2d 131, 477 P.2d 587 (1970); Whitney v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission of Utah, Utah, 585 P.2d 780 (1978).

This Court has further observed:

Under §35-4-10(i) the role of this Court is to sustain the determinations of the Board of Review unless the record clearly and persuasively proves the action of the Board of Review was arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable. Specifically, as a matter of law, the determination was wrong; because only the opposite conclusion could be drawn from the facts.

Continental Oil Company v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, Utah, 568 P.2d 727 (1977). Even in the case of conflicting testimony by the parties, this Court has stated:

. . . Substantial evidence need not be uncontroverted evidence. It is for the administrative agency, not this Court, to choose between conflicting facts.

The Court further pointed out that it is beyond the Court's prerogative to determine that the Board's reliance on one party's testimony over another's was inappropriate. Salt Lake City Corporation v. Department of Employment Security, Utah, 657 P.2d 1312 (1982). The Court will affirm commission findings on questions of basic fact if they are supported by evidence of any

substance whatever and will set them aside only if they are without foundation in fact. Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, Utah, 658 P.2d 601, 609 (1983).

Practical experience with judicial review has unquestionably identified a major category of administrative decisions on which reviewing courts exercise a scope of review more extensive than when reviewing agency findings on questions of basic fact, but less extensive than when reviewing to correct error in agency decisions on questions of general law. Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, *supra*, p. 610; Salt Lake City Corporation v. Department of Employment Security, *supra*. This intermediate standard of review may be characterized as mixed questions of law and fact or the application of findings of fact to the legal rules governing the case. "In reviewing decisions such as these, a court should afford great deference to the technical expertise or more extensive experience of the responsible agency." Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, *supra*. "The degree of deference extended to the decisions of the commission on these intermediate types of issues . . . must fall within the limits of reasonableness or rationality." Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, *supra*. The test of rationality may be no

more than a matter of logic or completeness, such as when the question is whether the commission's findings of fact support its conclusion. Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, supra; City of Orem v. Christensen, Utah, 682 P.2d 292 (1984).

In reviewing the commission's interpretations of general questions of law, the Court applies a correction-of-error standard with no deference to the expertise of the commission. General questions of law include interpretation of the United States Constitution and the acts of Congress and interpretation of the Utah Constitution and acts of the Utah Legislature. Examples of this correction-of-error type of review include whether the commission has acted beyond its statutory jurisdiction or authority and, questions of general law such as the interpretation of contracts. Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, supra, p. 608.

POINT II

WHEN A DECISION OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE IS APPEALED TO THE BOARD OF REVIEW AND THE BOARD OF REVIEW ISSUES A DECISION AFFIRMING, MODIFYING OR REVERSING THE ALJ, THE DECISION OF THE ALJ IS OF NO FURTHER AFFECT OR VALIDITY EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THE BOARD OF REVIEW IN ITS DECISION ADOPTS THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND/OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF THE DECISION OF THE ALJ.

On page 7 of his Brief, the claimant asserts that this Court should affirm the decision of the ALJ because it is

supposedly supported by substantial evidence whereas the Board's decision disallowing benefits is supposedly not supported by substantial evidence. It is submitted that once a decision of the ALJ had been appealed to the Board of Review and the Board of Review allows the appeal, either because the ALJ decision did not affirm a prior decision, or the Board in its discretion elects to hear an appeal on the merits in a situation where an ALJ did affirm a prior decision, the decision of the Board of Review then supplants and takes the place of the decision of the ALJ and becomes the decision of the Commission. At that point the decision of the ALJ is void and without any further operative effect except to the extent that the Board of Review adopts the Findings of Fact and/or Conclusions of Law of the decision of the ALJ in its (the Board of Review) decision. The relevant provisions of the Utah Employment Security Act in this regard are as follows:

35-4-10(d)(1) The governor shall appoint a review board composed of three impartial members to hear and decide referrals and appeals from the decision of the appeal referee. . . .

(d)(2) The board of review within the time specified for the filing of appeals may allow an appeal from a decision of an appeals referee on application filed within the designated time by any party entitled to notice of the decision. An appeal filed by the party shall be allowed as of right if the decision did not affirm a prior decision. Upon appeal the board of review may

on the basis of the evidence previously submitted in the case, or upon the basis of any additional evidence it requires, affirm, modify or reverse the findings, conclusions and decision of the appeal referee. The board of review shall promptly notify the parties to any proceedings before it of its decision, including its findings and conclusions, and the decision shall be final unless within ten days after mailing of notice to the parties' last known addresses or in the absence of mailing within ten days after the delivery of the notification further appeal is initiated under the provisions of this section; provided that upon denial by the board of review of an application for appeal from the decision of an appeal referee the decision of the appeal referee shall be deemed to be a decision of the board of review within the meaning of this paragraph for purposes of judicial review and shall be subject to judicial review within the time and in the manner herein provided.

Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

It is clear from the foregoing quoted provisions of the Act that the Board of Review is appointed by the Governor to decide referrals and appeals from decisions of the Administrative Law Judges. When an appeal has been allowed by the Board it is the responsibility of the Board to make a decision on the merits based upon the record before it. It is a de novo review in the sense that the Board makes its own findings of fact based upon all of the evidence in the record. The role of the Board of Review in reviewing appealed ALJ decisions is quite different from the role of the Supreme Court when a decision

of a Board of Review has been appealed to the Court under §35-4-10(i) of the Act. When a decision of the Board of Review is appealed to the Supreme Court "the findings of the Commission and the Board of Review as to the facts if supported by evidence, shall be conclusive and the jurisdiction of the Court shall be confined to questions of law."

Inasmuch as the Board of Review has issued its decision in this case the decision of the ALJ is of no further effect and is void. The Board of Review did not adopt any of the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the decision of the Administrative Law Judge in its decision. The claimant on page 7 of its Brief refers to the holding in Kehl v. Board of Review, Utah, 700 P.2d 1129 (1985) that "because of the technical experience of the ALJ and the ALJ's ability to more closely evaluate the testimony proffered, great deference should be afforded to the ALJ's decision." This does not mean that the Court should prefer the decision of the ALJ over the decision of the Board of Review. The decision of the Board of Review supplants the decision of the ALJ as mentioned above and the Supreme Court affords great deference to the technical expertise or more extensive experience of the final statement or decision of the Agency, which under the statutory scheme of the Employment Security Act is rendered by the Board of Review consisting of a Member of the Industrial Commission and two

Members appointed for two year terms by the governor. §35-4-10(d)(1), Utah Employment Security Act.

POINT III

THE BOARD OF REVIEW'S DECISION THAT APPELLANT CLAIMANT WAS DISQUALIFIED FROM RECEIVING BENEFITS UNDER §35-4-5(b)(1) OF THE ACT FALLS WITHIN THE LIMITS OF REASONABLENESS AND RATIONALITY AND THE COURT SHOULD THEREFORE AFFORD GREAT DEFERENCE TO THE BOARD'S TECHNICAL EXPERTISE AND/OR EXTENSIVE EXPERIENCE IN SUCH MATTERS.

The Board of Review found that the claimant was discharged from his employment for four reasons. First, "That the truck's road speed governor had been altered to allow driving in excess of the 62 mile per hour maximum speed the governor would have allowed." Second, "that the on-board computer showed that the truck had averaged about 66 miles per hour." Third, "that the claimant had operated his vehicle for nearly 22 hours out of a 24 hour period, which is clearly a violation of both the United States Department of Transportation Hours of Service regulations and company policy." Fourth, "On a urinalysis test for drug usage, he was found to have used a controlled substance (marijuana)." R.0019 Each of said findings of fact is amply supported by the evidence in the record.

CLAIMANT ALTERED THE TRUCK'S ROAD SPEED GOVERNOR

The testimony on this point is in dispute but the Board's decision is amply supported by substantial and competent evidence. The employer's Safety Manager, Nixon, testified:

I was notified by the mechanics in the shop that one of the drivers had come in and mentioned something about an air leak that he had tried to fix himself. They told me that the air leak involved a road speed governor, which is within my department to investigate any problems with that area.
R.0039

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